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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT Of PENNSYLVANIA 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 

PI ai titiff, 

v. 

RITE AID CORPORATION, 

Defendant. 

COMPLAINT FOR 
INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER 
EQUITABLE RELIEF 

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC"), through its undersigned 

attorneys, alleges as follows: 

l.PlaintiffFTC brings this action under Section 13(b) Qfthe Federal 

Trade Commission Act ("FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to secure a permanent 

injunction, rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies 

paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, and other equitable relief against Rite Aid 

Corporation for engaging in deceptive acts or practices in connection with the 

advertising, marketing, and sale Of the Rite Aid Germ Defense line of products, 

which are purported to prevent, treat, or cure colds and t1u , in violation of Sections 

Sea) and 12 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and 52. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursual}t to 15 U.s.c. 

§§ 45(a), 52, and 53(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 , 1337(a), and 1345. 
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3. Venue in this District is proper under 15 U.S.C. § 53(b) and 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1391(b) and (c). 

THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission, is an independent agency of 

the United States Government created by statute. See IS U.S.C. §§ 41-58. The 

FTC enforces Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, IS U.S .C. § 45(a), which prohibits 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. The FTC also 

enforces Section 12 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 52, which prohibits false 

advertisements for foods, drugs, devices, services, or cosmetics in or affecting 

commerce. The FTC, through its own attorneys, may initiate federal district court 

proceedings to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and to secure such other equitable 

relief, incl uding rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of 

monies paid, and disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, as may be appropriate in each 

case. 15 U.S.c. § 53(b). 

5. Defendant Rite Aid Corporation ("Rite Aid") is a Delaware corporation 

with its principal place of business at 30 Hunter Lane, Camp Hill, Pennsylvania 

17011. Rite Aid retail stores are Located throughout the United States. Since 

September 2005 , acting alone or in concert with others, Rite Aid has marketed, 

distributed, and sold its Germ Defense products to consumers throughout the 
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United States. Rite Aid transacts or has transacted business in the Middle District 

of Pennsylvania. 

COMMERCE 

6. The acts and practices of Defendant, as alleged herein, have been in or 

affecting commerce, as "cQmmerce" is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 44. 

DEFENDANT'S COURSE OF BUSINESS 

7. Since September 2005 and continuing thereafter, Defendant Rite Aid 

has advertised, promoted, offered for sale, sold, and distributed Gernl Defense 

products to the public. Sales of Germ Defense products at Rite Aid stores from 

September 2005 through December 200S exceeded $4.5 million. 

S. Genn Defense products come in an effervescent tablet form. 

According to the product label, Germ Defense products contain Vitamins A, C, and 

E; minerals, including zinc; electrolytes; amino acids; and a "proprietary" blend of 

herbal extracts, including echinacea. A "PM" version of Germ Defense, promoted 

for night time use, also includes chamomile and valerian. The formula of 

ingredients used in Germ Defense products purp9rtedly replicates the fonnula 

originated by and used in Airborne products, manufactured and sold by Airborne 

Health, Inc. Product directions indicate that Genn Defense can be used by both 
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adu Its and children. 

9. Rite Aid created, prepared, disseminated, or caused to be disseminated 

advertisements, product packages and lanels, in-store display cases, and other 

promotional material, including, but not limited to , the attached Exhibits A, B, and 

C, containing, among other things, the following statements and depictions. 

a. Rite Aid Germ Defense Package (Exhibit A) 

RITE AID 

Compare to the active ingredients of Airborne® 

Handborn & Airborn 

Germ Defense 

Take at the first sign of cold symptoms 
or before enteIing crowded environments 

For Cold & Flu 

For Use in* Ajrplanes*Offices*Schools*Restaurants* 
Health Clubs*Theaters 

Dietary Supplement 

Contains 7 herbal extracts, antioxidants, electrolytes, amino 
acids, 1,000 mg of Vitamin C and more! 
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DIRECTIONS: AT THE FIRST SIGN OF A COLD 
SYMPTOM, SIMPL Y DROP (I ) TABLET IN A SMALL 
AMOUNT OF PLAIN WATER, LET DISSOLVE (ABOUT I 
MINUTE) AND DRINK ... . 

TAKE AT THE FIRST SIGN OF COLD 
SYMPTOM OR IN CROWDED PLACES* 

b. Rite Aid Genu Defense Package (Exhibit B) 

RITE AID 

Compare to the active ingredients of Airbome® 
Orange Flavor 

Handbom & Airborn 

Germ Defense ™ 

Take to boost your immune system 
before entering crowded environments* 

Effervescent Health Fom1ula 

For Use in* Airplanes*Offices*Schools*Restaurants* 
Health Clubs*Theaters 

Dietary Supplement 

Contains 7 herbal extracts, antioxidants, electroly1es, amino 
acids, 1,000 mg of Vitamin C and more! 
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DIRECTIONS: SIMPLY DROP (I) TABLET IN A SMALL 
AMOUNT OF PLAIN WATER, LET DISSOLVE (ABOUT I 
MINUTE) AND DRINK .... 

Take to boost your immune system 
before entering a crowded environment* 

c. Rite Aid Newspaper Circular Advertising - December 2005 
(Exhibit C) 

[picture of Rite Aid Handborn & Airborn Germ Defensefor 
Cold and Flu grouped with cold and flu products, including 
Rite Aid Children 's Ibuprofen, Rite Aid Cough Drops, Rile Aid 
Allergy Medication, Rite Aid Nasal Decongestant PE, Rile Aid 
Loratadine, and other Rite Aid products with the following 
copy:] 

Rite Aid 
Cold Relief 
All Loratadine, Acta-Tabs or Nasal Decongestant PE, Complete 
Allergy, Children's Non-Aspirin or Ibuprofen or Cough Drops 
or Germ Defense .... 

d. Rite Aid Newspaper Circular Advertising - December 2006 
(Exhibit D) 

[picture of Rite Aid Handborn & Airborn Germ Defense for 
Cold and Flu grouped with cold and flu products, including 
Rite Aid Nite Time Cold/Flu Formula, Rite Aid Mucus Relief 
Expectorant, Rite Aid Nasal Decongestant PE, and Rite Aid 
Day Time Cold/Flu Formula) 

Rite Aid 
Nasal Decongestant PE 
Germ Defense 
Nite Time or Day Time Cold/Flu Relief 
Mucus Relief . . . . 
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DEFENDANT'S VIOLA nONS OF THE FTC ACT 

10. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.s.C. § 45(a), prohibits unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. Section 12(a) of the FTC 

Act, 15 V.S.c. § 52(a), prohibits the dissemination of any false advertisement in or 

affecting commerce for the purpose of inducing, or which is likely to induce, the 

purchase of food , drugs, devices, services, or cosmetics. For the purposes of 

Section 12 of the FTC Act, 15 V.S.C. § 52, the Germ Defense products are "drugs" 

or " foods" pursuant to Section 15(b) and (c) of the FTC Act, 15 V.S .c. § 55(b) and 

(c). As set forth below, Defendant has engaged in such unlawful practices in 

connection with the marketing and sale of the Germ Defense products. 

II. Through the means desclibed in Paragraph 9, including the statements 

and depiotions contained in Exhibits A through C, among others, Defendant has 

represented, expressly or by implication, that the Germ Defense products: 

a. Reduce the risk of or prevent colds and flu ; 

b. Protect against or help fight germs; 

c. Reduce the severity or duration of a cold; 

d. Protect against colds and flu in crowded places, such as 

airplanes, offices, schools, restaurants, health clubs, and 

theaters; and 
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e. Boost the body's immune system, thereby providing protection 

against cold and flu viruses. 

12. The representations set forth in Paragraph 11 were not substantiated at 

the time the representations were made. Therefore, the representations set forth in 

Paragraph 11 constitute deceptive acts or practices, and the dissemination of false 

advertisements, in or affecting commerce, in violation of Sections 5(a) and 12 of 

the FTC Act, 15 U.S.c. §§ 45(a) and 52. 

CONSUMER INJURY 

13. Consumers throughout the United States have suffered and continue to 

suffer substantial monetary loss as a result of Defendant's unlawful acts and 

practices. In addition, Defendant has been unjustly enriched as a result of its 

unlawful practices. Absent relief by this Court, Defendant is likely to continue to 

injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest. 

THIS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

14. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court 

to grant injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt 

and redress violations of the FTC Act. The Court, in the exercise of its equitable 

jurisdiction, may award other ancillary relief, including, but not limited to, 

rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and 
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the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies caused by Defendant's law violations. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission, pursuant to Section 

13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and the Court's own equitable powers, 

requests that the Court: 

l. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violation!> of the FTC 

Act by Defendant; 

2. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

consumers resulting from Defendant 's violations of the FTC Act, including, but 

not limited to, rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund. of 

monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies from Defendant; and 

3. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other 

and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

WILLARD K. TOM 
General Counsel 
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Dated: July 13,2009 

I 

S/GREGORY W. FORTSCH 
GREGORY W. FORTSCH 
PA 73958; NJ 03506 1994 
NJ Dist. Court GF 2244 
CAROL J. JENNINGS 
DC236513 
Trial Counsel 
600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Nl-
3212 
Washington, DC 20580 
Tel: (202) 326-3617 (Fortsch), 
(202) 326-3010 (Jennings) 
Fax: (202)326-3259 
gfortsch@ftc.gov 
cjennings@ftc.gov 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Federal Trade Commis~sion 
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